9-8

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

AUG 15 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KIT GOINS,  
Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 95-85,651  
(DCA No. 94-864)

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,  
Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

**PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF**

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT  
OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT  
STATE OF FLORIDA

✓

MARK EVAN FREDERICK, P.A.  
Florida Bar No. 242888  
737 Highway 98 East, Suite 1  
Post Office Box 385  
Destin, Florida 32540  
(904) 837-2115  
Attorney for Petitioner

**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Petitioner, Kit Goins, Appellant/Defendant below, will be referred to herein by name or as "Petitioner." References to the record on appeal will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s). References to the Appendix will be by the use of the symbol "A", "B", "C" and "D" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, section (3)(b)(3) Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, KIT GOINS, was charged with: Count I, sexual activity with a child; Count II, Lewd and Lascivious act upon a child; and Count III, Solicitation of child to engage in sexual activity (R.3). He pled nolo contendere to Counts I and III and the State nol prossed Count II (R.4).

On December 27, 1993 KIT GOINS entered into a written plea agreement wherein he stipulated to an incarceration of five and one-half (5-1/2) years at the Department of Correction, three (3) years of probation and certain special conditions (R.6)(A.1). Seconds after signing the written plea agreement (R.6)(A.1) KIT GOINS was brought before the Court for his plea hearing (R.47)(B.1). The Public Defender stated that "[w]e have a signed plea agreement in this case" (4.48). He went on to indicate to the Court that "[t]he State's going to recommend an adjudication and five and one-half (5-1/2) years Department of Corrections followed by three (3) years probation." (R.48)(B.2).

During the plea hearing the Court asked if KIT GOINS thought the terms [of the agreement] were in his best interest and he said "Yes." (R.50)(B-4). The Court then said "has anyone promised you anything other than what's on this piece of paper, all promises are right here?" KIT GOINS replied "Yes sir." (R.50).

Since the State agreed to nol pros Count II, a presentence investigation was ordered (R.51). The presentence investigation was completed on January 14, 1994 (R.38). In the document the probation officer noted that there is a written plea agreement which states that the Defendant would plead nolo contendere to Counts I and III, be adjudicated guilty and be sentenced to five and one-half (5-1/2) years in the Department of Corrections followed by three (3) years probation (R.39). Sentencing was left to the Judge (R.38). Under "Assessment and Recommendation" in the presentence investigation report, the Probation Officer recommended disposition as follows, "[i]t is recommended that the Defendant be sentenced to nine (9) years in the Department of Corrections followed by three (3) years probation . . . ." (R.45).

On February 4, 1994 KIT GOINS was sentenced (R.53)(C.1). During the hearing the Public Defender asked the Court for a downward departure (R.57)(C.5). He asked "that this Court impose a sentence of two (2) years community control followed by probation, court cost, and appropriate counseling and contact provisos . . . ." (R.57)(C.5). In response, the State indicated it had "agreed to dismiss one of those charges and allow him to plead to two of them in accordance with the plea agreement that was set out in [its]



recommendation letter to the Court, and the State would stand by that agreement which had been negotiated prior to the plea being entered." (R.58)(C.6).

The trial court declined to follow either the States' recommendation or the Defense' request. Instead, the trial court took the Probation Officer's recommendation as set forth in the presentence investigation report. The Court sentenced KIT GOINS to nine (9) years Department of Corrections and three (3) years probation and at no time indicated to KIT GOINS that he had the right to withdraw his plea agreement since the Court was not going to honor it (R.58)(C.6). KIT GOINS is currently serving this sentence.

An appeal was taken to the First District Court on the basis that the trial court did not give Petitioner a clear opportunity to withdraw his plea when the trial court imposed a greater sentence than what had been agreed upon in the negotiated plea agreement.

On appeal the district court affirmed the order of the trial court (D.1). The district court held that a trial court is under no duty to provide a defendant with a clear opportunity to withdraw a plea at sentencing when it decides to impose a sentence greater than that recommended in a plea agreement, and that the defendant should have filed a motion to withdraw his plea prior to filing an appeal.

The First District Court and the Second District Court are in direct conflict regarding whether a trial court has an affirmative duty to offer a criminal defendant the opportunity to withdraw his or her plea when the trial court imposes a different sentence than that presented with the plea agreement. The First District Court holds that there is no affirmative duty and the Second District Court holds that there is an affirmative duty. Thus the Petitioner contends that the decision of the two district courts are expressly and directly in conflict.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is true that a plea offer from the state is not binding upon the trial judge. Nevertheless, should the court determine it cannot accept a negotiated plea agreement, it should permit the defendant to withdraw the plea if he so desires. A defendant should be allowed to withdraw his plea agreement when he has conditioned it upon the understanding that his plea is only being entered upon a joint recommendation by the State and defense counsel as to the length of incarceration his sentence should be. When a trial court does not follow the negotiated plea agreement, then it is legally obligated to allow the defendant to withdraw the plea.

Furthermore, should a defendant not take the initiative by objecting to the different sentence at the time of sentencing, then the trial court must affirmatively permit the defendant to withdraw his plea. It is incumbent upon the judge to take action in permitting the defendant the opportunity to withdraw his plea. A defendant should be informed by the court that he could withdraw his plea when it is determined that the sentence is longer than that contemplated when the plea was entered.

The decision of the First District Court held that "when the trial court does not participate in the plea negotiations or promise the defendant that it will impose the recommended sentence, it is under no duty to provide the defendant with a clear opportunity to withdraw his or her plea at sentencing when it decides to impose a sentence greater than that recommended in the plea agreement." As explained below, the decision of the district court conflicts with a decision of the Second District Court in Perry v. State, 510 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) and Rodriguez v. State, 610 So. 2d 476 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); and, Kiefer v. State, 295 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974) holding that where a trial court does not honor a plea agreement, it must affirmatively take action to permit the defendant the opportunity to withdraw his or her plea and that a motion to withdraw is not required.

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE ONE

WHETHER A DEFENDANT WHO WAS REASONABLY LED TO BELIEVE THAT A NEGOTIATED PLEA WAS CONDITIONAL UPON THE TRIAL COURT FOLLOWING THE RECOMMENDATION MUST BE GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA WHEN THE TRIAL COURT DECLINES TO FOLLOW THE PLEA AGREEMENT.

In a criminal case, a trial court is not bound to impose a sentence recommended by the defense counsel or the state. Sharpe v. State, 547 So.2d 334 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). However, where a defendant enters a plea, understanding that it is conditioned upon the court following the recommendation, and the court declines to follow the recommendation, then the defendant must be permitted to withdraw his plea and must be so informed. Id. Should a defendant not be allowed to withdraw his plea, then the voluntariness of the plea becomes suspect, since it was agreed to in reliance upon the offer and acceptance of the plea agreement. Humphries v. State, 563 So. 2d 1124 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), Demcak v. State, 616 So.2d 519 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

In reading the transcript of the plea hearing in the case at bar, it can be determined that the State and the defense counsel had an understanding that Defendant would only be sentenced to an adjudication and five and one-half (5-1/2) years in the Department of Corrections, followed by three (3) years probation (R.48)(B.2).

Defendant conditioned his plea and entered it based upon the written plea agreement, wherein in writing, it states five and one-half (5-1/2) years Department of Correction, with three (3) years probation.

The Defendant entered into this written plea agreement agreeing to certain terms he considered in his best interest. When questioned by the Court, he indicated that he understood the terms and agreed upon them as set forth in the written plea agreement (R.50)(B.4). He also agreed with the Court that all of the promises made to him were contained in the written plea agreement (R.50)(B.4).

Since part of the Defendant's agreement was to enter a no contest plea to Counts I and III, the trial court ordered a presentence investigation. The presentence investigation report noted that there was a written plea agreement with a term of incarceration of five and one-half (5-1/2) years with three (3) years probation, as further evidence of the Defendant understanding his plea to be conditioned on this sentence of incarceration. However, in submitting the report to the Court, the Probation Office recommended nine (9) years incarceration with three (3) years probation (R.45).

On February 14, 1994, the Defendant appeared at his sentencing hearing. After taking testimony from Defendant's wife and sister and hearing from the Defendant, the Court entered its sentence. The trial court declined to follow the written plea agreement and sentenced Defendant to nine (9) years in the Department of Corrections and three (3) years probation (R.58)(C.6).

The trial court in entering this sentence declined to take the recommendation of the State, which stood by the written plea agreement that had been negotiated prior to the plea day, or the Public Defender's request for a lesser sentence (R.57)(C.5). The trial court was put on notice at the sentencing hearing that there was a negotiated plea agreement and that there had originally been three charges (R.57)(C.5). The State had allowed him to plead to two of the charges in accordance with the written plea agreement, which Defendant had signed. At no time in the sentencing hearing did the trial court question the Defendant as to his understanding or awareness that when he entered his plea and negotiated a sentence of five and one-half (5-1/2) years, that the trial court was not bound by counsels' recommendation, as set forth in the written plea agreement.

In a similar case, Sharpe v. State, 547 So.2d 334 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the trial court declined to follow the joint recommendation of the State and defense counsel regarding the

sentence to be imposed. At the sentencing proceeding, the Defendant moved to withdraw his plea, but the trial court denied the motion. The First District held that "if a defendant enters a plea with the understanding that the recommendation will be followed and the court declines to follow it, the defendant must be permitted to withdraw the plea." Id. at 335. Furthermore, a trial court should determine whether the defendant was aware, prior to the entry of the plea, that it was not bound to abide by counsels' sentencing recommendation. Id. If a trial court determines that a defendant was reasonably led to believe that the plea was conditional upon the trial court following the recommendation, then "the court must either allow defendant to withdraw the plea or sentence defendant according to the recommendation." Id. In the case at bar, it is clear from the transcript to the plea hearing and the sentencing proceedings, that Defendant was never informed by either his counsel or the Court that he had the right to withdraw his plea, when the Court declined to follow the plea agreement. Therefore, just as in Sharp, the Petitioner should be given the opportunity to withdraw his plea.

The case at bar does not have the same factual circumstances as found in State v. Adams, 342 So.2d 818 (Fla. 1977). In Adams, the court specifically asked the defendant the "whether he understood that the court was not bound by the State's



recommendation as to any sentence" Id. and the defendant indicated that he knew that the judge could sentence him to a higher sentence. Id. at 820. In this case, the court never asked Petitioner this question and therefore, the facts of Adams are inapplicable.

The opinion in Oglesby v. State, 584 So. 2d 93 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) cites Adams, for the proposition that if a plea is not conditioned upon a specific sentence, then it is not binding and there is no need for the court to give the defendant an opportunity to withdraw. Id. at 94. As explained above, the facts of Adams are different than the case at bar and therefore, Oglesby does not apply. The plea recommendation in Oglesby was centered on "guideline sentence" not a specific sentence, as was contemplated in the case at bar.

The case at bar is similar to in Goldberg v. State, 536 So.2d 364 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). In Goldberg, the defendant entered into a negotiated plea agreement, which was not honored by the court. Id. The Second District Court reversed and remanded the case, based upon the holding that "when a negotiated plea agreement cannot be honored, the defendant may withdraw his plea and the trial court has an affirmative duty to so advise the defendant." Id. In that case, as in the case at bar, the defendant had entered into a negotiated plea agreement prior to sentencing and was not given the

opportunity to withdraw his plea when the trial court wanted to impose a greater sentence than agreed to in the negotiated written plea agreement.

The agreement Petitioner entered into is the one stated in open court by the Public Defender (R.49)(B.3). The agreement was signed just seconds prior to the initial plea hearing. (R.49)(B.3). It is reasonable to assume that Petitioner signed the agreement conditioned upon the understanding that he would only receive five and one-half (5-1/2) years, when his own attorney stood up in court seconds after the agreement was signed and stated that that was the written terms of the plea agreement.

At no time in the hearing, or in the record, was Petitioner asked if he knew or had any knowledge as to an understanding that the court could impose a sentence other than that which the state recommended. In fact, the testimony shows just the opposite. Therefore, the record and the facts indicated that the Petitioner was of the understanding that the negotiated written terms of the agreement were conditioned upon acceptance of the trial court.

## ISSUE TWO

**WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT HAD AN AFFIRMATIVE DUTY TO PROVIDE THE DEFENDANT WITH A CLEAR OPPORTUNITY TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA WHEN THE TRIAL COURT DECLINED TO FOLLOW THE RECOMMENDED NEGOTIATED PLEA AGREEMENT.**

In the case at bar, the trial court failed to affirmatively give the Defendant the right to withdraw his plea. This failure to question the Defendant of his awareness and understanding of the sentence recommendation and the failure to affirmatively give the Defendant the right to withdraw his plea, undercut Defendant's rights and brought into question the voluntariness of his plea. Based upon Florida law, Defendant should be granted the right to withdraw his plea where the trial court has not followed the negotiated plea agreement.

The Second District Court is in direct conflict with the First District Court. In Goldberg v State, 536 So.2d 354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) the court stated "When a negotiated plea agreement cannot be honored, the defendant may withdraw his plea and the trial court has an affirmative duty to so advise the defendant." Id. See also Perry v. State, 510 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Rodriguez v. State, 610 So. 2d 476 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); and Kiefer v. State, 295 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974), wherein the Second District Court has held that a trial court has an affirmative duty to present a

defendant with an opportunity to withdraw his plea, when it decides to impose a different sentence and no motion to withdraw is required prior to an appeal.

The Second District Court has found that the opportunity must be presented affirmatively to a defendant to withdraw his plea by the trial court. It is not necessary for a defendant to file or make a motion to withdraw a plea, when the trial court has not affirmatively taken action to permit the defendant the opportunity to withdraw his plea. Perry v. State, 510 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987).

In Perry, supra, at the sentencing hearing, the State and the Public Defender agreed to two years incarceration in exchange for his plea of nolo contendere. The trial court accepted the Defendant's plea and ordered a presentence investigation deferring sentencing. The plea was not conditioned upon the presentence investigation. Id. At the second hearing the Defendant was sentenced to a longer incarceration period than had been agreed upon. The Defendant did not object to the sentence in the trial court and did not file a motion to withdraw his plea, instead raising it for the first time in the Appellate Court. Id. The Second District Court reversed the judgment and sentence and

remanded for further proceedings, at which the Defendant had to be given the opportunity to withdraw his plea. Id., see also Rodriguez v. State, 610 So.2d 476 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

In Rodriguez the Second District Court held

On appeal, Mr. Rodriguez correctly contends the trial court erred in sentencing him to a greater term than agreed upon when he tendered his plea. Because the trial court failed to affirmatively permit Mr. Rodriguez to withdraw his plea after it decided to depart from the guidelines rather than sentence him to the agreed-upon 22 years' imprisonment, we must reverse his judgments and sentences.

Rodriguez, supra at 477. In Rodriguez, the defendant did not object to the departure sentence and did not file a motion to withdraw his plea in the trial court; nevertheless, the district court made the above ruling. This is exactly the situation of the defendant in the case at bar.

In Kiefer, the Second District Court held

that where the trial court finds that it cannot conscientiously honor a plea bargain it must affirmatively take action to permit the defendant the opportunity to withdraw his plea.

Kiefer, 295 So.2d 688, 689 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974) (emphasis added). As in the other case, the defendant nor his counsel in Keifer did not object to the sentence at the time of sentencing.

Other cases in the Second District Court have upheld this same ruling. In Gumbiner v. State, 429 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) the defendant pled no contest, based upon a bargain with the state. The lower court did not follow the agreement and did not give the defendant an opportunity to withdraw his plea. It appeared that the lower court did not follow the agreement because of the results of a presentence investigation. The district court held that the lower court must grant the defendant the opportunity to withdraw his plea and, is in fact, under a duty to do so. Id. at 828.

In Freeman v. State, 376 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979) the defendant, pursuant to a plea bargain, pled nolo contendere. The lower court did not impose the agreed upon sentence and the district court held that the defendant "should have had the opportunity to withdraw his plea before sentencing." Id.

The defendant in Dunkel v. State, 432 So.2d 201 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) entered a plea of guilty, pursuant to a plea bargain. He later changed the plea, based upon statements by the trial judge that he could anticipate a maximum sentence of one year. At sentencing, another judge sentenced him for four years. The district court held that "when the terms of an earlier plea bargain are not honored, defendant should be given the opportunity to withdraw his plea, and the trial judge has an affirmative duty to so advise the defendant." Id. (emphasis added).

As in the above cases, the Defendant in the case at bar had an agreed upon sentence, and yet, was sentenced to a longer sentence than was recommended by the State and the defense counsel. Defendant did not object at the sentence proceedings and was never told by the trial court that he had a right to withdraw his plea. This lack of notification by his counsel and the Court has denied Defendant his right to withdraw his conditional plea. See also Parker v. State, 616 So.2d 1121 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

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