IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chilef Deputy Clerk

KIT GOINS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,651 (DCA NO. 94-864)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A PETITION FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

DOUGLAS GURNIC
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0000063

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

ISSUE II: Petitioner entered into a plea agreement under which the state nol prossed a criminal count and agreed to recommend a sentence of five and a half years imprisonment to the trial court. The state so recommended which fully satisfied the terms of the plea bargain. The trial court was not bound to follow the recommendation of the parties and did not err in imposing a sentence which was consistent with the plea bargain, the sentencing guidelines, and the statutory maximum. Moreover, following sentencing, petitioner did not move to withdraw the plea in the trial court. Absent a motion to withdraw the plea, the district court had no appellate jurisdiction.

The petitioner was sentenced within the sentencing guidelines and the statutory maximum. There is no right to appeal an unconditional plea of nolo contendere entered without reservation where (1) the sentence imposed was within the range recommended

or permitted by the sentencing guidelines, (2) the sentence was within the statutorily authorized maximum and was thus not illegal, and (3) the defendant/appellant did not object to the sentence and did not move to withdraw the plea bargain. Thus, pursuant to sections 924.06(1)(d), 924.06(1)(e), and 924.06(3), Florida Statutes, there was no constitutional or statutory right to appeal and the district court should have summarily dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

ISSUE III: It is clear that a recommended sentence is not binding on the trial court. An agreement to recommend a certain sentence is a bargain between the State and the defendant and the bargain is complete when the State makes the agreed recommendation to the trial court. If the trial court accepts the plea it should consider the recommendation but, as it has the ultimate authority in sentencing, it is free to impose a different sentence if it determines that the recommended sentence is not appropriate. Thus, the First District Court of Appeal properly held that when the trial court is not involved in the plea negotiations and there is no promise that the trial court will impose the recommended sentence, the trial court is not obligated to allow the defendant a clear opportunity to withdraw his or her plea.

ISSUE IV: The record shows that the State lived up to its end of the bargain, making the sentencing recommendation it agreed to, and the plea was not conditioned on the trial court's acceptance of the recommendation. The trial courts have the ultimate sentencing power over criminals in this State. The Petitioner should not be allow to have another chance at a lighter sentence by getting an automatic right to withdraw his plea because the trial court did not follow the "recommended" sentence. The First District Court of Appeal did not err in so holding.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

IS THERE DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS?

The threshold issue is always whether a court has jurisdiction to hear a cause. Accordingly, the state first argues that there is no discretionary jurisdiction to hear this petition.

The record on appeal shows that petitioner's plea was not contingent on the imposition of a negotiated sentence by the The written plea agreement itself explicitly trial court. recognized that the trial court could sentence within the sentencing guidelines and could, for good reason, even depart from the quidelines. Only in the latter event, was petitioner afforded the right to appeal. It should also be noted that, contrary to his claim that the plea agreement required a sentence of five and one half years imprisonment, petitioner himself argued to the trial court that it could depart downward from the guidelines by imposing probation only. The sentence imposed by the trial court was consistent with the plea agreement, the sentencing guidelines, and the statutory maximum. The district court did not err in noting that petitioner had not moved to withdraw the plea and that the trial court was under no duty to provide the petitioner with an opportunity to withdraw the plea it decided to impose a sentence greater recommended by the state.

The district court below partially misspoke in noting apparent conflict with three cited cases from the 2nd DCA. There is no direct and express conflict with these decisions and this petition should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution. Moreover, as will be seen below, the district court itself had no jurisdiction to review this appeal from a sentence which was within the sentencing guidelines and the statutorily authorized maximum and which was imposed consistent with a unreserved plea bargain from which no motion to withdraw was filed.

The district court below noted apparent conflict with a line of cases from the 2nd DCA which hold that a trial court must affirmatively offer a defendant an opportunity to withdraw a plea when the plea is conditioned on the imposition of a specific sentence and the trial court declines to impose the negotiated sentence. There is no direct and express conflict in decisions because, here, there was no provision making the plea agreement contingent on a negotiated sentence.

In <u>Perry v. State</u>, 510 So. 2d 1083, 1084 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), "the trial court, the assistant state attorney, and the appellant's counsel agreed that the appellant would receive two years' incarceration in exchange for his plea of nolo contenders." <u>Id</u>. Thus, in <u>Perry</u>, the trial court itself agreed to the negotiated sentence prior to the acceptance of the plea but, after the prosecutor erroneously recited the terms of the agreement, subsequently imposed a sentence greater than that it had agreed to in accepting the plea. Similarly, in <u>Rodriguez v.</u>

State, 610 So. 2d 476, 477 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), at the plea hearing, "all parties and the trial court understood that Mr. Rodriguez's plea was conditioned upon a guidelines sentence of not more than 22 years imprisonment." Thereafter, at the sentencing hearing, the trial court heard testimony from the victims and imposed a departure sentence greater than that which it had agreed to in accepting the plea. The holding in Rodriguez that a defendant may withdraw a plea when its terms are violated is unexceptionable. It does not conflict with the decision below simply because the trial court here did not violate the terms of the plea bargain in imposing a sentence which was consistent with the plea bargain.

The district court also noted apparent conflict with Kiefer v. State, 295 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974), the seminal case on which both Rodriguez and Perry rest. In Kiefer, again, the plea bargain itself was contingent on the imposition of a specific sentence of probation and it was agreed that the defendant would be permitted to withdraw the plea if any other sentence was The trial court subsequently sentenced Kiefer to one imposed. year in the county jail, contrary to the plea bargain. DCA held that the trial court erred in not affirmatively offering the defendant an opportunity to withdraw the plea when it imposed a sentence greater than the negotiated sentence in the plea There is no direct and express conflict with the bargain. decision below because the trial court here imposed a sentence on petitioner which was completely consistent with the plea bargain. See written plea agreement at (R-7.)

Although there is no direct and express conflict in the decision below, it is obvious that the 1st DCA disagrees with the 2nd DCA's corollary requirement that a trial court affirmatively offer a defendant an opportunity to withdraw from a contingent plea when the sentence imposed is contrary to the plea. This is the apparent conflict to which the court below referred. It should be noted that Kiefer is a 1974 decision which precedes this Court's decision in Robinson v. State, 373 So. 2d 898 (Fla. rationale that trial court 1979). The Kiefer а must affirmatively offer a defendant an opportunity to withdraw from a plea when it decides not to honor a contingent provision of the plea bargain is, as the district court below recognized, conflict with this Court's subsequent holding in Robinson at 902:

[W]e find that an appeal from a guilty [or nolo] plea should never be a substitute for a motion to withdraw a plea. If the record raises issues concerning the voluntary or intelligent character of the plea, that issue should first be presented to the trial court in accordance with the law and standards pertaining to a motion to withdraw a plea.

This Court's holding in Robinson, unlike Kiefer and progeny, is consistent with the settled principle that claims and arguments not presented to the trial court are not cognizable on direct appeal. Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); State v. Barber, 301 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1974). Petitioner Goins maintains here, and maintained below in the district court, that the plea bargain as he understood it mandated the imposition of a specific sentence. That claim was not presented to the trial court even though, if petitioner's allegations are made in good faith, it goes to the

voluntariness of the plea and, as <u>Robinson</u> holds, "should first be presented to the trial court in accordance with the law and standards pertaining to a motion to withdraw a plea." <u>Robinson</u>, 373 So. 2d at 902. It frequently happens that a defendant is dissatisfied with the sentence imposed following a plea bargain and may claim, and even believe, that it is contrary to the plea bargain. If so, the place to raise and initially resolve the issue is in the trial court itself, preferably as soon as possible so that the trial court may immediately conduct fact-finding or, alternatively, by a postconviction motion to either enforce the plea bargain or withdraw the plea. As Justice Overton made clear in <u>Robinson</u>, the remedy is always in the trial court and the law does not countenance sandbagging of issues in trial courts by permitting them to be raised for the first time on appeal.

Because the progeny of <u>Kiefer</u> are still being issued, this Court should make clear that its subsequent decision in <u>Robinson</u> controls, and that claims such as here may not be raised for the first time on appeal and must be first raised by a motion to withdraw the plea. <u>Kiefer</u> does not survive <u>Robinson</u>. This motion to withdraw may be filed immediately following the sentence to which objection is made or, as the district court below noted, may be filed as a postconviction motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

The district court below did err on one point which this Court should correct. Although it correctly held that the issue was not cognizable on appeal absent the filing of a motion to

withdraw, it overlooked the jurisdictional significance of that holding and routinely affirmed the trial court below. It should have summarily dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to section 924.06(3), Florida Statutes and Robinson at 903: "We find the district court justified in summarily dismissing the appeal as frivolous on the record before it." On this point, see also Issue II below.

#### ISSUE II

IS THERE A RIGHT TO APPEAL FROM AN UNRESERVED NOLO PLEA WHERE THE SENTENCE IMPOSED IS PRIMA FACIA LEGAL AND DOES NOT DEPART FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES?

Because jurisdiction is always a threshold issue, the state points out that there was no constitutional or statutory basis for the exercise of appellate review in the district court and that the appeal should have been summarily dismissed. Here, the petitioner pled no contest without reservations and received a sentence which was incontrovertibly within both the sentencing guidelines and the statutory maximum. Under section 924.06 and Robinson, the state could have filed a simple motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, the appeal would have been efficiently ended with a minimum of waste for all concerned, and petitioner could have, if he wished, sought the correct remedy of a motion to withdraw plea in the trial court. Instead, under erroneous decisions of the First District which conflict with both Robinson and section 924.06, the appeal has reached the highest court of the state on a completely frivolous issue.

The right to appeal, with the possible exception of capital cases, is purely statutory under both the Florida and United States constitutions; and the Florida Legislature has the constitutional authority under the separation of powers doctrine to grant or deny the right to appeal, to set the terms and conditions under which the right may be exercised, and to prescribe the conditions under which reversals may be permitted. See, Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600, 611 (1974)("[I]t is clear that the State need not provide any appeal at all:); Abney v.

United States, 431 U.S. 651, 656 (1977)("It is well settled that there is no constitutional right to an appeal: " and "The right of appeal as we presently know it in criminal cases, is purely a creature of statute: in order to exercise that statutory right of appeal one must come within the terms of the applicable statute:); Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 393 (1985)("Almost a century ago, the Court held that the Constitution does not require States to grant appeals as of right to criminal defendants seeking to review alleged trial court errors"); and State v. Creighton, 469 So. 2d 735, 739 (Fla. 1985)("Cases decided after the 1972 revision of article V [of the Florida Constitution] still recognize the right of appeal as a matter of substantive law controllable by statute not only in criminal cases but in civil cases as well") 1.

The Florida Legislature has granted both defendants and the state a limited right to appeal subject to the terms and conditions set out in chapter 924, Florida Statutes. Both the criminal defendant and the state may appeal sentences on the grounds that they are illegal or depart from the sentencing guidelines. Sections 924.06(1)(d) & (e), 924.07(1)(e)& (i). There are no other sentencing issues where an appeal of right is granted. Further, as a term and condition of appeal, section 924.06(3) states that a "defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere with no express reservation of the right to appeal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The issue in <u>Creighton</u> was whether certain language in article V granted a constitutional right to appeal. This Court held that it did not and reaffirmed the long-standing law that appeals are a matter of substantive law controlled by statute.

shall have no right to a direct appeal." Such defendants "shall obtain review by means of collateral attack."

This Court upheld the constitutionality of section 924.06(3) in Robinson, interpreting it to mean that defendants could appeal a sentence imposed following a plea of quilty or nolo on the ground that the sentence is illegal. This was consistent with the legislative decision in section 924.06(1)(d), as it existed in 1979 when Robinson issued, because a sentence is pronounced after entry of a plea and, necessarily, a criminal defendant cannot know at the time of the plea what sentence will be Thus, reading sections 924(6)(1(d) and subsequently imposed. 924.06(3) in para materia, the statutory right to appeal on grounds that a sentence was illegal could still be exercised following entry of either a guilty or nolo plea. Moreover, since Robinson issued in 1979, the sentencing guidelines have been enacted and the legislature has authorized both the state and the criminal defendant to appeal sentences imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines. Again, as with a claim of an illegal sentence, a departure sentence can only be imposed following entry of a plea or adjudication of guilt, and section 924.06(3) does not preclude appeal of either an illegal sentence or a departure from the guidelines.

It should be noted, however, that a departure sentence and an illegal sentence are the only two sentencing issues for which the Florida Legislature has authorized a right of appeal under any circumstances, not merely following entry of a plea. Thus, criminal defendants who unreservedly plead note or guilty have no

right to a general appeal. Pursuant to <u>Robinson</u> and section 924.06(3), they may only challenge the plea if they assert that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction or that the circuit court erroneously denied a motion to withdraw the plea. Similarly, they may only challenge the sentence if they specifically assert that it is illegal or a departure from the sentencing guidelines. See, Robinson, 373 So. 2d at 902-903:

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